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Preface

April 15, 2012 will mark the 100th anniversary of the sink-
ing of the largest and the most luxurious ocean liner of its 
time, RMS Titanic, which collided with an iceberg on its 
maiden voyage and sank in the North Atlantic Ocean. There 
were 2,223 passengers and crew members on board, 706 
of whom survived. Altogether, 1,517 men and women lost 
their lives in the disaster. The rescue operation continued 
for days, but all the bodies could not be recovered. Sever-
al hundreds vanished in the deep waters. The remains of 
more than 300 victims were found, but some were buried 
at sea as well. Most of those buried on land were laid to rest 
in the three cemeteries of Halifax, Canada. 

The Titanic also carried Finnish passengers: some were 
immigrating to America for the fi rst time, others coming 
back after visiting the old country. There were voyagers 
traveling alone as well as parties and entire families. Diff er-
ent sources suggest there were 63 Finns on the Titanic, on-
ly 20 of whom survived. However, this number might not 
include all of the Finns on board. E.g. SS Carpathia, which 
brought the survivors to New York on April 18, 1912, had 
on its passenger list Finnish citizen Alice Johnson and her 
two children, who were actually American citizens. Alina 
Backberg from Helsinki does not appear on any other list 
of Finns on board. 

The purpose of this presentation is to describe the des-
tinies of the Finns on the Titanic. All of them embarked on 
the Titanic at Southampton, from where the maiden voy-
age began on April 10, 1912. However, the majority had 
started their journey in Hanko by boarding the SS Pola ris 
on April 3, 1912. Some had traveled fi rst to Sweden and 

then journeyed on from Gothenburg to England. There 
were also those, who had planned to leave England on a 
diff erent ship, but under unfortunate circumstances had a 
change of plans and ended up on the Titanic.

This presentation is based on information gathered by 
Jarno Linnolahti, Director of The Provincial Archives of Joen-
suu, about the Finnish passengers on the Titanic (http://ko-
ti.mbnet.fi /jartsi50 /Index_fi les/titmat03.htm). Encyclope-
dia Titanica (http://www.encyclopedia-titanica.org/) has 
been the most important source of information. Added to 
that is data from published literature, various archives as 
well as private citizens. Linnolahti’s list has been completed 
mostly with the help of church documents, passport and 
passenger records as well as information from the Vital Re-
cords of the United States. I would like to express my grati-
tude to Jarno Linnolahti for his magnifi cent teamwork. 

In the second edition of this publication passenger pre-
sentation has been revised and expanded. Further illustra-
tions have also been added, as well as excerpts from origi-
nal passenger lists and newspapers.

In Turku on May 20, 2013

Elisabeth Uschanov

Genealogist
Institute of Migration
eliusc@utu.fi 
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  ► Most of the Finns on 
the Titanic had boarded 
SS Polaris at Hanko on 
April 3, 1912. Afterwards, 
a note was added to the 
passenger list: ”Sjönk på 
sin första tur genom kolisi-
on med ett isberg” (”Sank 
on her first voyage after 
colliding with an iceberg”).

The Finnish Steamship Company’s (F.Å.A.) passenger list
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The Titanic passenger list
  ► All of the Finns boarded the 

Titanic in Southampton on April 
10, 1912. The list shows some 
of the Finns who traveled in third 
class. Source: Ancestry.com UK, 
RMS Titanic, Outward Passenger 
List, 1912
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Collander, Erik Gustaf

Engineer Erik Gustaf Collander was born 
in Mikkeli on April 19, 1884. Erik’s father 
was factory owner Paul Collander. Col-
lander worked as a technical director at 
a large paper mill near Helsinki.

Erik Collander left Helsinki on April 1, 
1912, traveling to England via Sweden. 
A second-class ticket on the Titanic cost 
£13. Collander was on his way to Amer-
ica for a vacation and to study. Accord-
ing to an Ohio newspaper, he meant to 
surprise his cousin, Dr Paul J. Collander, 
who lived in Ashtabula, Ohio. Erik Col-
lander drowned and his body was nev-
er recovered.

Second-Class Passengers

Hämäläinen, Anna

Mrs Anna Amanda Hämäläinen, born 
1888, craftsman’s wife from Kiihtelys-
vaara. 

Anna Hämäläinen boarded the SS 
Polaris in Hanko on April 3, 1912. On 
the Titanic she traveled in second class 
together with her son Viljo and Mart-
ta Hiltunen. The tickets for Anna and 
Viljo cost 478 Finnish marks. Anna was 
on her way to her husband Juho who 
lived in Detroit, Michigan. 

Both Anna and Viljo made it to the 
lifeboat number 4 and continued their 
journey immediately from New York to 
Detroit on April 19, 1912. 

Hämäläinen, Viljo Unto 
Johannes

Viljo Hämäläinen (William Hamlin) trav-
eled at the age of 8 months with his 
mother Anna Hämäläinen and Martta 
Hiltunen. 

Viljo Hämäläinen and his mother An-
na made it to the lifeboat number 4. Vil-
jo was the youngest Finn to survive the 
Titanic. 

Lahtinen, Anna Amelia

Anna Amelia Lahtinen (née Silvén/Silf-
ven) was born on February 17, 1879 in 
Hancock, Michigan, where her parents 
John Jakob and Elisabeth Silvén had 
emigrated from Oulu in 1877. In 1886 
the family moved to South Dakota and 
Anna married Pastor William Lahti-
nen on October 12, 1904. The Lahtinen 
fami ly moved to Cokato, Minnesota the 
following year and obtained American 
citizenship in 1910.

Anna and William Lahtinen arrived in 
Kemi in the fall of 1911 to visit relatives 
and to off er a helping hand to Anna’s 
cousin Lyyli Silvén, who was immigrat-
ing to America. Anna and William had 
brought along their adoptive daugh-
ter Martha Lahtinen, b. 1907, who died 
in Kemi during their visit, on March 10, 
1912. Martha’s ailment delayed the 
family’s return to Minneapolis, where 
they had had a new home built in their 
absence. 

Anna, her husband William Lahti-
nen, and Lyyli Silvén embarked on the 
England-bound SS Polaris in Hanko on 
April 3, 1912. Their second-class tick-
et cost 440 Finnish marks. After the Ti-
tanic collided with the iceberg, Anna   ► Martta Hiltunen

  ► Anna and Viljo Hämäläinen

  ► Erik Gustaf Collander

Hiltunen, Martta

Miss Martta Hiltunen was born in Kuo-
pio on February 7, 1894. At a later date 
she moved to Kontiolahti. Her parents 
were foreman Pekka Hiltunen and Iida 
Muinonen. 

Martta Hiltunen boarded the SS Po-
laris in Hanko on April 3, 1912 to sail to 
England. On the Titanic she traveled in 
second class with Anna Hämäläinen 
and Anna’s son Viljo. Both of the latter 
were rescued. Martta was taking care 
of Anna’s luggage and did not make it 
to the lifeboat.

Martta Hiltunen drowned with the 
Titanic and her body was never found.



6

boarded a lifeboat, but then decided 
to return to her husband on deck. Lyy-
li Silvén survived. She later described 
how Anna had seemed quite upset, 
whereas William had calmly continued 
smoking his cigarette. 

Both Anna and William were drowned 
and their bodies were never found. 

Lahtinen, William

Pastor William Lahtinen (formerly Wil-
helm Peura) was born on April 23, 1876 
in Viitasaari. His parents were depen-
dent lodger Henrik Gab riel Peura and 
Fredrika Hämäläi nen.

William Lahtinen left for America for 
the fi rst time in August 1903 and mar-
ried Anna Silvén on October 12, 1904 
in South Dakota. The following year the 
Lahtinens moved to Cokato, Minneso-
ta and obtained American citizenship 
in 1910. 

In the fall of 1911 Lahtinen, who was 
a lay preacher in the Laestadian move-
ment, traveled to Finland with his wife 
Anna in order to help her relative Lyy-
li Silvén, who wanted to immigrate to 
America. Anna and William had with 
them their adoptive child Martha La-
htinen, b. 1907, who died in Kemi dur-
ing their visit, on March 10, 1912. Mar-
tha’s ailment had postponed their re-
turn back to Minneapolis, where they 
had had a new home built during their 
visit to Finland. 

In Hanko, William Lahtinen board ed 
the England-bound SS Pola ris togeth-

  ► Finnish Lutheran Church, William Lah-
tinen’s home church, on the original site 
in Cocato before the move to Annandale 
Pioneer Park in 1975 (photo below taken 
in 2005).

Both William and Anna Lahtinen 
were drowned and their bodies were 
never recovered.

The records of the Mansion House 
Titanic Relief Fund show that William 
Lahtinen’s widowed mother Fredrika 
Peura, who lived in Viitasaari, was paid 
£50 in 1914 in compensation for the 
drowning of her son.

er with his wife Anna and Lyyli Silvén. 
Second-class ticket cost 440 Finnish 
marks. After the Titanic collided with 
an iceberg, Anna managed to get on-
to a lifeboat, but then decided to leave 
the boat and wait for her husband. Lyy-
li Silvén survived. She later described 
how Anna had seemed quite upset, 
whereas William had calmly continued 
smoking his cigarette. The Titanic sur-
vivors described how the pastor held 
a revival meeting on the deck of the 
sinking ship. 
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Silvén, Lyyli Karoliina

Lyyli Karoliina Silvén (Silfvén) was born 
on June 11, 1894 in Tornio. Her parents 
were postman Aleksanteri Nikolai Sil-
vén and Anna Karolina. 

Lyyli Silvén departed from Hanko 
on SS Polaris bound for England to-
gether with William and Anna Lahti-
nen on April 3, 1912. On board the 
Titanic Lyyli shared her second-class 
cabin with fellow Finn Anna Sinkko-
nen. The price of the ticket was 440 
Finnish marks.

When the Titanic sank, Lyyli saw 
Anna and William Lahtinen standing 
on the deck as lifeboats were being 

launched. According to her, she got in-
to the last of them (probably boat num-
ber 16), but her relatives the Lahtinens 
were drowned. 

In New York, Lyyli Silvén and her cab-
in companion Anna Sinkkonen were 
quartered in a Jewish “Welcome Home”. 
Lyyli visited Finland once, in 1924. She 
married Otto Wilhelm Moilanen from 
Lemu and died in Alameda, California 
on February 5, 1974. 

Sinkkonen, Anna Maria

Servant Anna Maria Sinkkonen was 
born in Parikkala on March 12, 1882. Her 

parents were farm owner Matti Sink-
konen and Leena Poutanen. 

Anna Sinkkonen boarded the SS Po-
laris in Hanko and set off  for England 
on April 3, 1912. She was on her way 
to Massachusetts, where her sister Ida 
Sinkkonen lived.  Anna traveled in sec-
ond class sharing her cabin with fellow 
Finn Lyyli Silvén. Her ticket had cost 
440 Finnish marks. 

Anna Sinkkonen made it to lifeboat 
number 10. 

In New York Anna Sinkkonen and 
her cabin companion Lyyli Silvén were 
quartered in a Jewish “Welcome Home”.
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  ► August Abrahamson’s passport application in New York in February 1921, in which he 
states that he has resided in the United States continuously for 8 years and 9 months. His 
previous passport, issued in Turku in 1912, was lost when the Titanic sank. Source: Ancestry.
com. U.S. Passport Applications, 1795-1925. 

Abrahamson, August 
Johannes

Sailor August Johannes Abrahamson 
was born on July 15, 1892 in Taalinteh-
das (Dalsbruk), Dragsfj ärd.

August Abrahamson sailed aboard 
the SS Polaris from Hanko to England on 
April 3, 1912. His destination was Hobo-
ken, New Jersey, where his brother An-
ton Abrahamson resided. His ticket cost 
269 Finnish marks. August traveled with 
Eino Lindqvist, also from Taalintehdas.  
They were accompanied by Eino’s sis-
ter Helga Hirvonen and her daughter 
Hildur. On the Titanic August shared his 
third-class cabin with fi ve other Finns. 

August was asleep in his cabin when 
the impact occurred. At fi rst he was 
not going to get up, but changed his 
mind, suspecting there was something 
wrong, and went to warn Eino Lindqvist 
in the neighboring cabin. They ascend-
ed to the boat deck and looked for Ei-
no’s family members. August reached 
a lifeboat (probably number 15). After-
wards he described hearing stifl ed ex-
plosions as the ship went down.

August Abrahamson arrived in New 
York on the SS Carpathia on April 18 
and was quartered at St. Vincent’s Hos-
pital. August settled in Brooklyn, New 
York, and worked as a ship carpen-
ter and as a supplier. He visited Fin-
land together with his wife Martha in 
the 1920s. August Abrahamson died in 
America in 1961.

Alhomäki, Ilmari Rudolf

Baker Ilmari Rudolf Alhomäki was born 
in Salo on March 12, 1893.

Ilmari Alhomäki took the England-
bound SS Polaris in Hanko on April 3, 
1912. The cost of his journey was 561 
Finnish marks, including not only the 
sea fare but also the train fare to Asto-
ria, Oregon. He was on his way to see 
his brother Arthur Alhomäki.

Third-Class Passengers
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Ilmari Alhomäki was drowned and 
his body was never found. Alhomäki’s 
family was awarded £50 in compensa-
tion from a relief fund.

A story runs in his family accord-
ing to which Ilmari had managed to 
reach an ice fl oe, but eventually froze 
to death.

1880. His parents were dependent 
lodger Karl Gustav Backström and So-
fi a Lovisa Grundström. 

Karl Backström went to America for 
the fi rst time in the fall of 1906. He re-
turned to Finland and married Maria 
Mathilda Gustafsson in 1911. Then, he 
was off ered a management position in 
construction in America and decided 
to go back. He enticed his wife’s broth-
ers, Johan Birger and Anders Vilhelm 
Gustafsson, to go along, as he wanted 
to work with people he knew. 

Karl Backström’s wife, Mathilda, was 
six months pregnant when they depart-
ed from Hanko on SS Polaris, bound for 
Hull, on April 3, 1912. Their joint ticket 
cost 618 Finnish marks. 

Karl Alfred Backström drowned and 
his body was never recovered. Mathil-
da’s two brothers were also drowned. 
Mathilda was rescued and she immedi-
ately returned to Finland. She was paid 
£325 in compensation. 

Andersson, Erna

17-year-old maid Erna Aleksandra An-
dersson was born in Ruotsinpyhtää, 
and her father was Anders Aspelin. Her 
last residence in Finland was Kulla man-
or (Kulla Gård) in Loviisa.

Erna Andersson traveled aboard the 
SS Polaris from Hanko to England on 
April 3, 1912. Her fi nal destination was 
New York City, where her brother Ru-
dolph Andersson lived. Her ticket cost 
269 Finnish marks.

Erna was rescued onto collapsible 
lifeboat D and she arrived in New York 
on April 18, 1912, aboard the Carpathia. 
She was quartered at the Union League 
Home together with Maria Backström.

Erna Andersson stayed in New York 
and worked as a domestic. In 1924 she 
returned to Finland for a visit, re-em-
barked for America and married a Finn-
ish man named Johansson. They settled 
in Michigan.

Backström, Karl Alfred

Carpenter Karl Alfred Backström was 
born in Ruotsinpyhtää on January 14, 

Backström, Maria Mathilda

Carpenter’s wife Maria Mathilda Back-
ström (née Gustafsson) was born in 
Ruotsinpyhtää on July 28, 1878. Her 
parents were farmer’s son Karl Gustafs-
son and Maria Lovisa Gustafsson. 

Mathilda Backström embarked for 
America in December 1902, but re-
turned to Finland later. She married 
her childhood friend Karl Backström in 
1911. 

Her husband was off ered a job in 
America, and on April 3, 1912, the fami-
ly boarded the Polaris in Hanko and em-
barked on a voyage to America. With 
them were also Mathilda’s two broth-
ers, Johan Birger and Anders Vilhelm 
Gustafsson. Mathilda was six months 
pregnant. She sent a letter home, writ-
ing that the trip had gone well. They 
had paid 618 Finnish marks for their 
joint ticket. 

On the night of the accident, Mathil-
da Backström was compelled by her 
husband Karl to board one of the last 
lifeboats (collapsible D). Karl assured 
her he would try to get to the next one. 
Mathilda was wearing nothing but her 
nightgown and a lifejacket. Despite 
his promises, Karl did not succeed in 
reaching a boat. He was drowned and 
so were Mathilda’s two brothers.  

Mathilda Backström arrived in New 
York on SS Carpathia on April 18, 1912. 
She was at the Union League Home to-
gether with Erna Andersson. Mathilda 
did not want to stay in America, and 
the White Star Line paid her journey 
back home. She embarked for Finland 
aboard the Urania (Finnish Steamship 
Co.) on May 9, 1912. 

  ► Ilmari Rudolf Alhomäki

  ► Karl Alfred Backström

  ► Maria Mathilda Backström
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In June she gave birth to a baby girl 
named Alfhild Maria. A picture of “Ma-
ria Bickström” [sic] and her son was 
published in New York a few days af-
ter the arrival of the Carpathia. It was 
clearly a mistake, as Maria had no son.

Maria Mathilda Backström died in 
Ruotsinpyhtää on June 30, 1947.

Berglund, Karl Ivar Sven

Workman Karl Ivar Sven Berglund was 
born in Sund, in Aland Islands on Jan-
uary 24, 1890. His parents were brick-
layer Karl August Berglund and Emma 
Lovisa Rydberg. 

Karl Berglund was enticed to Amer-
ica by the words of his neighbor, dock-
worker Alfred Rindell, who had paid 
the Berglunds a visit from America in 
1911. Rindell had promised Karl a job 
in construction and had also sent him 
the money for the journey. 

Karl Ivar Berglund went fi rst to 
Stockholm and there bought a ticket 
for a ship to America. He boarded the 
Wilson Line’s Calypso, bound for Eng-
land, in Gothenburg on April 5, 1912. 
Only in Southampton did he realize 
he was getting on board the Titan-
ic, as a national coal strike in the U.K. 
caused major disruptions to shipping 
schedules. He sent his parents a post-
card from Southampton with a picture 
of the Titanic. His parents received his 
card and the news of the Titanic’s sink-
ing at the same time. The drowning 
of their son Karl was confi rmed a few 
weeks later.  

Karl Ivar Sven Berglund drowned 
and his body was never recovered. His 
family was paid a compensation of £75.

Gustafsson, Alfred Ossian

Workman Alfred Ossian Gustafsson 
was born in Kökar, Aland Islands on 
May 12, 1892. His parents were parish 
clerk Gustaf Albert Gustafsson and Oli-
via Angelina Karlström.

Alfred’s older brother Verner was al-
ready living in New York and helped 
him realize the trip by sending him the 

money for the ticket. Verner had previ-
ously lived in Illinois, and on some re-
cords Alfred has been listed as Finnish-
American and on his way back to his 
home in Illinois. 

On several Titanic records he has al-
so been listed as Swedish, apparent-
ly because he traveled via Sweden. He 
departed from Gothenburg to England 
on the Wilson Line’s Calypso on April 5, 
1912. Only in Southampton did he re-
alize he was getting on board the Ti-
tanic, as a coal strike caused major dis-
ruptions to shipping schedules.

Alfred Ossian Gustafsson drowned 
in the Titanic tragedy and his body was 
never found. His parents were paid £50 
in compensation for the loss of their 
son.

Gustafsson, Anders Vilhelm

Workman Anders Vilhelm Gustafsson 
was born in Ruotsinpyhtää on April 5, 
1875. His parents were farmer’s son 
Karl Gustafsson and Maria Lovisa Gus-
tafsson.

Anders Gustafsson embarked for 
America for the fi rst time in the fall 
of 1906, but returned to Finland. His 
friend Karl Alfred Backström, who was 
also his brother-in-law, was going back 
to America and off ered both Anders 
and his brother Johan Birger a job at 
his new construction site in America. 

Anders Vilhelm Gustafsson, his broth-
er Johan Birger, their sister Mathilda 

Backström and her husband Karl Back-
ström departed from Hanko aboard the 
Polaris on April 3, 1912. 

Anders Vilhelm Gustafsson, his broth-
er Johan Birger and Karl Backström 
drowned. Only Mathilda survived. The 
body of Anders Vilhelm (number 98) 
was recovered and buried at sea on 
April 24, 1912. His relatives were paid 
£75 in compensation.

Gustafsson, Johan Birger

Farmer Johan Birger Gustafsson was 
born in Ruotsinpyhtää on June 15, 
1883. His parents were farm owner’s 
son Karl Gustafsson and Maria Lovisa 
Gustafsson.

Johan Birger Gustafsson was a farm-
er in his home parish and married to 
Jenny Johansson. They had three chil-
dren, the youngest born only a month 
before the ocean journey. They also 
had a brand-new house. 

Karl Alfred Backström, who was mar-
ried to Johan Birger’s sister, was going 
back to America and off ered both Jo-
han and his brother Anders a job as 
construction workers at his new work 
site in America. Johan Birger’s fami-
ly intended to follow him to America 
some time later.

Johan Birger Gustafsson, his brother 
Anders Vilhelm and their sister Mathilda 
Backström with her husband Karl Back-
ström left Hanko aboard SS Polaris on 
April 3, 1912.

  ► Anders Vilhelm Gustafsson   ► Johan Birger Gustafsson
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Johan Birger Gustafsson, his broth-
er Anders and his brother-in-law Karl 
Backström all drowned.  Only Mathil-
da was saved. Johan Birger’s body was 
never found. His widow was paid £250 
in compensation.

Hakkarainen, Elin Matilda 
(Mathilda)

Mrs. Elin Matilda Hakkarainen (née Dol-
ck) was born in Kalvola on March 20, 
1888. Her parents were dependent 
lodger Kalle Dolck and Wilhelmiina 
Kustaantytär. Her last residence in Fin-
land was Helsinki. She had married Pe-
kka Hakkarainen only few months prior 
to the journey, yet their plans of mov-
ing to America were long-standing. 

Elin and Pekka Hakkarainen left Han-
ko on board the Polaris on April 3, 1912. 
Their fi nal destination was Monessen in 
Pennsylvania. The joint ticket had cost 
them 630 Finnish marks. 

Aboard the Titanic the couple was 
awoken by the collision. Pekka got up 
to fi nd out what was going on, whereas 
Elin fell asleep, waking only when some 
friends came knocking on her door. Her 
husband had not yet returned. Elin did 
not have enough time to get warm-
ly dressed, but she took her handbag 
and a lifejacket and rushed to the cor-
ridor. Stairway gates were locked, but 
she saw a steward guiding passengers 
to the boat deck. Elin looked for her 
husband, but was shown to a lifeboat 
nearby (number 15). The boat was al-
ready being launched and she near-
ly fell between the ship and the boat. 
It has been said that from the lifeboat, 
Elin kept on searching for her husband 
and calling his name.

Elin Hakkarainen’s husband Pekka 
Hakkarainen was drowned and his 
body was never recovered. His wife re-
ceived £50 in compensation.

Elin Hakkarainen arrived in New York 
on the Carpathia on April 18, 1912. She 
was taken to St. Vincent’s Hospital. In 
a few days time she resumed her jour-
ney to Monessen, Pennsylvania. In 
1917 she moved to West Virginia and 
married Emil Nummi. The couple had 

a son. The whole family visited Finland 
in 1921. Elin (Ellen) Nummi died in War-
ren, Ohio on January 2, 1957.

Hakkarainen, Pekka Pietari

Pekka Pietari Hakkarainen was born 
in Kuopio on January 1, 1884. His last 
place of residence in Finland was Hel-
sinki. He married Elin Dolck only a few 
months before the journey, yet their 
plans of moving to America were much 
older than that. Pekka and Elin Hak-
karainen boarded SS Polaris in Hanko 
on April 3, 1912. Their destination was 
Monessen in Pennsylvania. Tickets had 
cost them 630 Finnish marks.

On the Titanic the couple woke to 
scratching noises. Pekka got up in or-

der to get some information, but Elin 
fell asleep and only woke up when 
some friends came knocking on her 
cabin door. Pekka had not yet returned. 
Elin never saw her husband again. 

Elin Hakkarainen was rescued on-
to lifeboat number 15. Her husband 
Pekka Hakkarainen was drowned and 
his body never found. His wife Elin was 
paid £50 in compensation.

Heikkinen, Laina Maria

Miss Laina Maria Heikkinen was born 
in Jyväskylä on January 25, 1886. Her 
parents were farm owner Erkki Matin-
poika Heikkinen and Fredrika Herma-
nin tytär. 

Before her fi rst trip to America in 
1907, Laina Heikkinen had worked in 
a laundry in Helsinki. In New York she 
was a maid, but suff ered from loneli-
ness and returned to Finland to per-
suade her sister Tyyne to go with her. 
However, their mother would not con-
done it, and she had to return to Ameri-
ca alone. 

Laina Heikkinen departed from Han-
ko aboard the Polaris on April 3, 1912. 
Her destination was New York and her 
ticket cost 269 Finnish marks. 

On the night of the disaster, Laina 
woke to the noises in the corridor. She 
dressed carefully and went to the deck. 
Laina made it onto lifeboat number 14. 
She remained there for six hours be-
fore climbing on board the Carpathian, 
which took the survivors to New York. 

In New York Laina Heikkinen stayed 
at St. Vincent’s Hospital together with 
her fellow Finns. After a few weeks she 
traveled fi rst to Boston and from there 
to Oregon. In Portland she met Jakob 
Penttilä, also from Finland, and married 
him in 1914. The couple bought a place 
close to Rose Lodge in Oregon. Their 
daughter Inez was born in 1917. 

The family later used some of Lai-
na’s travel funds to buy a farm near 
the town of Clatskanie in Oregon. Lai-
na never learned to speak English and 
rarely spoke of her experiences on the 
Titanic. The daughter remembers her 
mother sometimes crying in her sleep. 

  ► Elin Mathilda Hakkarainen

  ► Pekka and Elin Hakkarainen
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Like many other survivors, Laina was 
haunted by the memory of the groan-
ing and moaning of the dying people. 

Jakob Penttilä passed away in 1939 
and Laina Penttilä on September 9, 
1943 in Oregon. They are buried at 
Stewart Creek Cemetery near Quincy, 
Oregon. Their daughter Inez married 
Gerald Perry in 1938.

Helga Hirvonen visited Finland twice 
with her family, in 1914 and 1924. Her 
family moved to New York, where she 
died on May 17, 1961. 

Hirvonen, Hildur

Hildur Hirvonen was born in Taalinteh-
das, Dragsfj ärd on February 15, 1910. 
Her father Erik Hirvonen had embarked 
for America in October 1911.

Hildur and her mother Helga Hir-
vonen followed father Erik to America. 
Hildur’s maternal uncle Eino Lindqvist 
came along. 

After the Titanic hit the iceberg, Eino 
Lindqvist helped both his sister and his 
niece into a lifeboat (probably number 
15).

Hildur and her mother Helga arrived 
in New York on board the Carpathia 
on April 18, 1912. Her father was there 
and straightaway the company con-
tinued their journey to Pennsylvania, 
where father Erik Hirvonen resided. 

Honkonen, Eliina

Miss Eliina Honkonen (Honkanen) was 
born in Saarijärvi in 1884. 

Eliina left Hanko aboard the Pola ris 
on April 3, 1912. Her destination was 
Quincy, Massachusetts. Eliina’s last resi-
dence in Finland was Helsinki, where 
her mother Eeva resided.

Eliina Honkonen survived the sink-
ing of the Titanic. She arrived in New 
York on SS Carpathia on April 18, 1912.

She later came back to Finland, but 
returned to America yet again the 
same year. The following year she mar-
ried Isak Lindqvist in Massachusetts.

Ilmakangas, Ida Lovisa

Miss Ida Lovisa Ilmakangas was born 
in Paavola on November 14, 1884. Her 
mother was Beata Sofi a Ilmakangas. 

Ida Ilmakangas embarked for Amer-
ica for the fi rst time in October 1907. 
She had come back to Finland to take 
her sister Pieta Sofi a with her to New 

1991, research enabled the identifi ca-
tion of victim number 8 and her name 
was added to the headstone.

Wendla Maria Heininen’s family re-
ceived £50 in compensation for their 
loss.

Hirvonen, Helga

Mrs. Helga Elisabeth Hirvonen (née 
Lindqvist) was born in Taalintehdas 
(Dalsbruk), Dragsfj ärd, on January 2, 
1890. 

Helga was married to Erik Hir vo nen, 
who embarked for America in 1911 and 
found job in a steel factory in Mones-
sen, Pennsylvania. Their daughter Hil-
dur was born in February 1910.

Helga Hirvonen and her daughter 
Hildur traveled to America to join the 
father of the family. The party includ-
ed Helga’s brother, Erik Lindqvist and 
August Abrahamsson, also from Taa-
lintehdas. Their journey began in Han-
ko, where they boarded the Polaris on 
April 3, 1912. 

From Southampton Helga sent a 
postcard with a picture of the Titanic 
back home to Taalintehdas. For a long 
time Helga’s family thought that she 
had drowned. But Eino Lindqvist had 
helped both his sister and his niece 
reach a lifeboat (probably number 15).

Helga Hirvonen arrived in New York 
with her daughter and brother on SS 
Carpathia on April 18, 1912. Her hus-
band Erik was there waiting for them 
and they immediately continued to 
Pennsylvania. 

Heininen, Wendla Maria

Maid Wendla Maria Heininen (former-
ly Saxen) was born on June 7, 1888 in 
Laitila, in the hamlet of Koliseva. Her 
parents were crofter Johan Saxen and 
Mathilda Lundgren. 

Before heading to America, Wendla 
had saved up for the journey by work-
ing as a servant in several households 
in Laitila and Mietoinen. 

Wendla Heininen departed from 
Hanko on SS Polaris on April 3, 1912. 
Her destination was New York and her 
ticket cost 269 Finnish marks. 

Wendla Heininen lost her life in the 
Titanic catastrophe. The crew members 
of the cable ship Mackay Bennett pulled 
from the sea a female body with the ini-
tials W.H. embroidered on her clothing. 
This unidentifi ed body was laid to rest at 
Fairview Cemetery in Halifax, the head-
stone marked only with the number of 
the victim and the date of her death. In 

  ► The headstone of Wendla Heininen at 
Fairview Lawn Cemetery in Halifax, Canada.

  ► Laina Maria Heikkinen
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York where she lived. Ida and Pieta Il-
makangas departed from Hanko on 
SS Polaris on April 3, 1912. The journey 
cost them 269 Finnish marks.

Both Ida Lovisa and Pieta Sofi a 
drowned in the Titanic collision and 
their bodies were never recovered. 
Their mother Beata received £10 com-
pensation from the Daily Telegraph 
fund and £100 from another fund for 
the loss of her two daughters.

Ilmakangas, Pieta Sofi a

Miss Pieta Sofi a Ilmakangas was born 
in Paavola on March 4, 1887. Her moth-
er was Beata Sofi a Ilmakangas. 

Pieta Sofi a’s sister, Ida, had em-
barked for America in 1907 and had 
settled in New York. Ida had returned 
to Finland to take her sister with her to 
America. 

Pieta Sofi a and Ida Ilmakangas left 
Hanko on board the Polaris on April 
3, 1912. Their tickets cost 269 Finnish 
marks. 

Both sisters died in the sinking of the 
Titanic and their bodies were never re-
covered. Their mother Beata received 
£10 compensation from the Daily Tele-
graph fund and £100 from another 
fund for the loss of her two daughters.

Johansson (Johanson), 
Jakob Alfred

Farmer Jakob Alfred Johansson (Jakob 
Alfred Bonäs/Johnson) was born on 
the Bonäs farm in Uusikaarlepyy on Ju-
ly 11, 1877. 

In 1896 Jakob Alfred Bonäs went to 
America, working at fi rst as a woods-
man, but ending up digging gold in 
Alaska. He prospered in his attempt 
and returned to Finland with his fam-
ily in 1908, and bought out part of his 
Bonäs home farm. Jakob Alfred had 
met his future wife Anna Loviisa An-
dersson in America, marrying her there 
in 1901. They had four children.

However, Jakob Alfred was not sat-
isfi ed with the revenue he obtained 
from his home farm and he sold it to 

son was interred at Fairview Cemetery 
in Halifax on April 24, 1912. All his pos-
sessions, including his diary, were sent 
back to his wife in Finland. His family 
was paid £250 in compensation.

Johnsson (Johnson), Alice

Mrs. Alice Johnson (Alina Vilhelmina 
Backberg) was born in Helsinki on April 
21, 1884. Her parents were Stefan and 
Amanda Backberg.

Alina Backberg fi rst left for Ameri-
ca in 1905. In April 1907 she married 
a Swedish man named Oscar Johnson 
and they had two children: Harold and 
Eleanor. When Alina’s father in Helsin-
ki fell ill, Alina decided to take her chil-
dren and visit her old homeland. They 
spent several months with her rela-
tives both in Finland and Sweden. In 
the spring of 1912 they were returning 
from Sweden back to Illinois and ended 
up aboard the Titanic.  

Alice Johnson and her children Har-
old and Eleanor survived the Titan-
ic. They arrived in New York on SS Car-
pathia on April 18, 1912. Alice Johnson 
was listed as a Finnish citizen, where-
as her children were American citizens. 
Because Alice departed from Sweden, 
she is usually regarded as Swedish. 

Alice’s husband Oscar Johnson died 
in 1917. Alice remarried twice and died 
on December 19, 1968. 

Jussila, Erik

Erik Jussila was born in Elimäki on April 
2, 1880. His parents were juryman Erik 
Eriksson and Eva Lisa Andersdotter.

Erik Jussila embarked for America 
for the fi rst time in June 1905. He lived 
in Michigan and Minnesota. Erik was in 
Finland on a visit and got married while 
there. His wife Helmi was from Jalasjär-
vi. Before traveling to America for the 
second time Erik lived in Helsinki. 

Erik’s wife stayed behind in Finland, 
when he departed from Hanko on the 
Polaris on April 3, 1912. His ticket cost 
315 Finnish marks. 

his brother Hannes. He was planning 
to take his family back to America; Al-
fred himself would go fi rst alone and 
the family would follow at a later time.  

Jakob Alfred Johnson (Bonäs) board-
ed SS Urania in Hanko on March 30, 
1912. His destination was Vancou-
ver, Canada. He had originally booked 
passage aboard the Philadelphia from 
Southampton to America, but because 
of the coal strike he was transferred to 
the Titanic. He was pleased with the 
change and wrote about it on a post-
card he sent home. He kept a diary dur-
ing the entire journey. On board the 
Titanic Jakob kept company with the 
Wiklund brothers from Munsala as well 
as Anna Sjöblom. Anna was the sole 
survivor among them.

Jakob Alfred Johanson drowned. His 
body was found and identifi ed. Johan-

  ► A photo locket, a golden ring and a diary 
written in pencil, in Swedish, were found in 
the pockets of Jakob Johanson and sent to 
his family in Finland.

  ► Jakob Alfred Johansson
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On board the Titanic Erik was awak-
ened by the collision, but did not get 
up immediately. Only when his friend 
Johan Niskanen came to tell him what 
had happened did he leave to the 
deck. He made it into a lifeboat, proba-
bly number 15. 

Erik Jussila arrived in New York on 
the Carpathia on April 18, 1912. He re-
mained at St. Vincent’s Hospital for a 
while and later continued his journey 
to Pennsylvania. 

Erik’s wife Helmi Jussila arrived in 
America in the summer of 1912. Erik 
Jussila died in America on January 5, 
1944.

Jussila, Aina Maria

Miss Aina Maria Jussila was born in 
Paavola, in the province of Oulu, on 
September 21, 1893. Her mother was 
Kaisa Sofi a Syrjä.

Aina Maria Jussila was traveling to 
America together with her stepsister 
Katariina. Their maternal uncle owned 
an employment agency in New York. 
They embarked on SS Polaris in Hanko 
on April 3, 1912. The girls had so-called 
prepaid tickets which their uncle had 
sent them from America. The price of 
the journey was $50. 

Both Aina Maria Jussila and her sis-
ter Katariina died in the sinking and 
their bodies were never found. Their 
parents received £75 in compensation 
plus £10 from the Daily Telegraph Fund 
for the loss of their two daughters.

Jussila, Katariina

Miss Katariina Jussila was born in 
Paavola, in the province of Oulu, on 
December 11, 1893. Her father was 
farmer Iikka Jaakonpoika Jussila and 
her mother was Greta Liisa Heikintytär.

Katariina Jussila was traveling with 
her stepsister Aina Maria to America, 
where their maternal uncle held an 
employment agency in New York. They 
departed from Hanko aboard the Po-
laris on April 3, 1912. The sisters had 
so-called prepaid tickets which their 

uncle had sent them from America. 
The price of the journey was $50.

Both Katariina and Aina Maria Jus-
sila were drowned and their bodies 
were never recovered. Their parents re-
ceived a compensation of £75 and £10 
from the Daily Telegraph Fund.

Kallio, Nikolai

Crofter’s son Nikolai Erland Kallio was 
born in Kauhajoki on December 18, 
1894. His parents were the crofter of 
Kyyny, Erland Erkinpoika Kallio, and 
Aurora Amandantytär. 

Nikolai Kallio fi rst embarked for 
America in October 1902 with his 
mother Aurora and his sister Auli Maria. 
The father of the family had already set-
tled in Mass City, Michigan. Six of Niko-
lai’s siblings born in Finland had died 
young. 

The family had returned to Finland, 
and in the spring of 1912 Nikolai was 
on his way to Sudbury, in Ontario, Cana-
da, together with Matti Rintamäki, Mat-
ti Mäenpää and Iisakki Äijö-Narva, all 
from Kauhajoki. They departed from 
Hanko on SS Polaris on April 3, 1912.

Nikolai Kallio as well as his travel-
ing companions drowned, and their 
bodies were never recovered. Nikolai’s 
family received £50 in compensation. 

Laitinen, Kristiina (Kristina) Sofi a
Miss Kristiina Sofi a Laitinen was born 

on October 12, 1873 in the rural parish 
of Kuopio. Her parents were farmhand 
Petter Laitinen and Hedvig Asikainen. 
Sofi a Laitinen moved to Helsinki in 1905 
and worked, among other places, at a 
school for the blind, The Finnish Evan-
gelical Lutheran Mission home and as a 
mistress in a shopkeeper’s household.

In 1911 Sofi a lent money to a friend 
who embarked for America. Her friend 
paid the debt by sending Sofi a a pre-
paid ticket to America. However, Sofi a 
was unable to travel until April 1912. 
She left Hanko on board the Polaris on 
April 3, 1912.

Aboard the Titanic Sofi a shared her 
cabin with Anna Turja, Hedvig Turku-
la, Maria and Katri Jussila and Helga 
Hirvonen and her daughter.

Sofi a Laitinen died in the sinking and 
her body was never found. No compen-
sation was ever claimed for her death. 

Leinonen, Antti

33-year-old Antti Kustaa Leinonen lived 
in Oulunkylä, in the parish of Helsinki, 
before embarking for America. He was 
married to a woman named Josefi na. 

Antti Leinonen was headed for New 
York and boarded the Polaris in Hanko 
on April 3, 1912. His ticket cost 269 Finn-
ish marks. 

Antti Kustaa Leinonen was drowned 
and his body never found. His widow 
was paid £50 in compensation.

Lindqvist, Eino

Eino Lindqvist was born in Taalinteh-
das, Dragsfj ärd on February 13, 1892. 

Eino boarded SS Polaris in Hanko on 
April 3, 1912. He was headed for Hobo-
ken, New Jersey. He traveled together 
with his sister Helga Hirvonen and her 
daughter Hildur. In their company was 
also August Abrahamsson from Taa-

  ► Aina Maria and Katariina Jussila

  ► Antti Leinonen
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lintehdas. Eino was going to America 
for the fi rst time.

Eino, like other unmarried men on 
board, was accommodated in the bow, 
in the lower parts of the ship. After the 
collision his friend August Abrahams-
son came and told him to get up. Ei-
no did not believe they were in any 
kind of danger. After seeing blocks of 
ice on the deck, they decided to return 
to their cabins, which were already 
fl ooded. Eino sought out his sister Hel-
ga Hirvonen and together they went 
to the upper deck where he seated 
his sister in lifeboat number 15. Eino 
said he was denied access to the boat. 
He threw himself into the water with 
a lifebuoy and had to swim to reach a 
lifeboat. 

Eino Lindqvist arrived in New York on 
SS Carpathia on April 18, 1912. He met 
his brother-in-law and left to Monessen, 
Pennsylvania, together with his sister, 
his sister’s husband and their daughter.

Mäenpää, Matti

Crofter’s son Matti Aleksander Mäen-
pää was born in Kauhajoki on October 
7, 1889. His parents were crofter Vil-
helm Hiskianpoika Mäenpää and Adol-
fi na Enokintytär. 

Matti Mäenpää was on his way to 
Sudbury in Ontario, Canada, with Mat-
ti Rintamäki, Nikolai Kallio and Iisak-

ki Äijö-Nirva, all from Kauhajoki. They 
left Hanko aboard the Polaris on April 
3, 1912. Matti paid 336 Finnish marks 
for his ticket, including the journey to 
Sudbury by train. 

Matti Mäenpää and his traveling 
companions drowned and their bod-
ies were never found. Matti’s family re-
ceived £50 in compensation.

Mäkinen, Kalle Edvard 
(Edward)

Smallfarmer Kalle Edvard Mäkinen or 
Wiitala (Forsberg) was born in the vil-
lage of Tervaniemi, in Ikaalinen, on May 
21, 1882. He married Ida Nieminen on 
November 17, 1903, and they had two 
children: son Paavo, born in 1904, and 
daughter Lempi, born in 1908.

Kalle Mäkinen embarked for Ameri-
ca for the fi rst time in the April of 1905. 
He settled in Glassport, Pennsylvania. 
Kalle returned to Finland in 1907, but 
re-embarked for America in November 
1909. In 1912 he was once again head-
ed back to Glassport after visiting Fin-
land, and boarded SS Polaris at Hanko 
on April 3, 1912. He paid 312 Finnish 
marks for his ticket, including the train 
journey all the way to Glassport. 

Kalle Mäkinen drowned and his 
body was never found. His widow re-
ceived £250 in compensation. The high 
amount suggests that the family was 
entirely dependent on his earnings.

Nieminen, Manta

Dependent lodger’s daughter Man-
ta Josefi na Nieminen was born in Kar-
inainen, in Southwest Finland, on De-
cember 15, 1888. Her parents were Se-
lim and Maria Nieminen.

Manta Nieminen had worked as a 
maid since the age of nine. In the ap-
plication for compensation her par-
ents describe how Manta had been 
traveling abroad, but had returned 
to Finland in the fall of 1911. She had 
assisted her parents with 100 Finn-
ish marks per year. At the beginning 
of 1912 she had been working on her 
parents’ farm. They counted upon her 
fi nancial help after she left to Ameri-
ca for work. 

Manta was on her way to Aberdeen, 
Washington, and she departed from 
Hanko on SS Polaris on April 3, 1912. 
She was traveling with Juho Verner Sa-
lonen, also from Karinainen. Her ticket 
cost 553 Finnish marks, including the 
train fare to her fi nal destination. 

Martta Nieminen was drowned and 
her body was never recovered. Her 
parents were paid £50 in compensa-
tion for their loss. 

  ► A marker for Eino Lindquist was dedicated in April 2012 at Tulocay Cemetery, Napa, CA.

  ► Manta Nieminen
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Niskanen, Juho

Juho or Jussi Niskanen was born in the 
Hietala croft, in Saarijärvi, on May 15, 
1873. His parents, crofter Dani el Nis-
kanen and Mathilda Eriksson, had 
moved to Saarijärvi from Kivijärvi, where 
the family returned in 1889. Juho left 
the farm to become a carpenter’s ap-
prentice. He married Anna Leena Ruus-
ka in 1895 and they had four children.

Juho Niskanen fi rst embarked for 
America in 1905. He lived in Boston, 
Massachusetts, and worked as a miner 
and as a lumberjack. Juho returned to 
Finland after less than three years, and 
he had with his wife two more children.

In 1912 Juho Niskanen decided to 
take his entire family to America. He 
sold his share of the home farm and 
bought the tickets. At the time of de-
parture, one of his children caught an 
eye infection and Jussi decided to trav-
el by himself, in advance. The rest of 
the family would follow later.

Juho Niskanen boarded the Polaris 
in Hanko on April 3, 1912. From South-
ampton he sent a postcard with a pic-
ture of the Titanic to his wife in Karstu-
la. On the Titanic he shared his cab-
in with Juho Strandén from Kitee. He 
had bought a ticket to Boston, and had 
paid 269 Finnish marks for it. 

After the impact, Strandén woke up 
Juho Niskanen, who in turn went to 

  ► From Southampton Juho sent his wife in Karstula a postcard with a picture of the Titanic. 
The postcard arrived on April 15, 1912.

  ► Juho Niskanen

warn Erik Jussila (from Jalasjärvi) with 
whom Juho had become acquainted 
during the journey. Juho Niskanen and 
Strandén reached the boat deck and 
were both rescued, probably into life-
boat number 9. 

Juho Niskanen arrived in New York 
on SS Carpathia on April 18, 1912. He 
asked for £50 in compensation for his 
lost luggage.   

Juho Niskanen remained in Ameri-
ca, fi rst in Boston and fi nally in Granite-
ville, Vermont. His family was only noti-
fi ed of his rescue several months later. 
Juho was eternally afraid of the sea: he 
would not let his family travel to Ameri-
ca by sea, and he was unable to board a 

ship to return to Finland. In 1915 Juho 
heard about gold discoveries in Cali-
fornia and moved there. He bought 
a small ranch in Cazadero and spent 
some of his time weaving multi-col-
ored ribbons and ties. Being a miner as 
well he searched for gold on his ranch.

He died on August 13, 1927 at the 
age of 54, under highly suspicious cir-
cumstances. He was found burned and 
shot in the head in the ruins of his own 
cottage. Rumor has it that Juho had 
a hoard consisting of several kilos of 
gold. 

Panula, Eino Viljami

Eino Viljami Panula was born in Ylihär-
mä on March 10, 1911. He was the son 
of Juho Panula and Maria Ojala. The 
Panula family had returned to Finland 
from America and had moved from 
Lapua to Ylihärmä in 1910. On April 3, 
1912 Eino embarked on the Polaris in 
Hanko with his mother Maria and his 
brothers. Their destination was Coal 
Center in Pennsylvania, where father 
Juho Panula had settled. 

Eino Panula died in the Titanic disas-
ter and his body was never recovered. 
In 2002, DNA tests performed on the 
unidentifi ed body of a boy, recovered 
by cable ship Mackay-Bennett and 
buried in Halifax, suggested the vic-
tim was Eino Panula, but this was later 
proved incorrect.

Panula, Ernesti Arvid

Ernesti Arvid Panula was born in Mich-
igan on May 18, 1895. His parents were 
Juho Panula and Maria Ojala. The Panu-
la family returned from America to Fin-
land in 1910 and moved from Lapua to 
Ylihärmä. 

Ernesti boarded the Polaris with his 
mother Maria and his four brothers in 
Hanko on April 3, 1912.  Their desti-
nation was Coal Center, Pennsylvania, 
where father Juho Panula had settled. 
Ernesti Panula drowned with the Titan-
ic and his body was never found.
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Panula, Jaakko Arnold

Jaakko Arnold Panula was born in 
America on December 8, 1897. He was 
the son of Juho Panula and Maria Oja-
la. The Panula family moved back from 
America to Finland in 1910 and took 
up residence in Ylihärmä.

Jaakko with his brothers and his 
mother Maria boarded the Polaris in 
Hanko on April 3, 1912. Their destina-
tion was Coal Center, Pennsylvania, 
where his father Juho Panula had set-
tled.

Jaakko Panula died in the sinking of 
the Titanic and his body was never re-
covered.

Panula, Juho Niilo

Juho Niilo Panula was born in Ameri-
ca on September 1, 1904. His parents 
were Juho Panula and Maria Ojala. The 
entire Panula family came back from 
America to Finland in 1910 and moved 
from Lapua to Ylihärmä.

Juho departed from Hanko on SS 
Polaris together with his brothers and 
his mother Maria on April 3, 1912. Their 
destination was Coal Center, Pennsyl-
vania, where their father had already 
settled.

Juho Niilo Panula died on the Titanic 
and his body was never found.

Panula, Maria Emilia 

Mrs. Maria Emilia Panula (née Oja-
la) was born in Lappajärvi on Decem-
ber 1, 1870. She was the daughter of 
farmer Abraham Abrahaminpoika Oja-
la and Sanna Maria Davidintytär. Maria 
married Juho Panula of Lapua in 1892. 
Their fi rst child died at a very young 
age in Lappajärvi. In 1893 Maria Panula 
embarked for America, where her hus-
band had already gone beforehand. 
Their son Ernesti was born in 1895 in 
Michigan. In 1902 the Panula family re-
turned to Finland with their three chil-
dren: Ernesti Arvid, Jaakko Arnold and 
Emma Iida. 

Maria and Juho re-embarked for 
America already the following year. 
Their children stayed in Finland with 
relatives. There were fi ve sons in the 
family, as the 9-year-old daughter Em-
ma had drowned in 1910 in Lapuanjo-
ki, after the family had once again re-
turned to Finland. They moved from 
Lapua to Ylihärmä.

Nevertheless, in November 1911 
Juho Panula left for America again. 
The following spring Maria Panula sold 
their farm to her brother-in-law, took 
her children and left for America to 
join her husband. Susanna Riihivuori, 

  ► Juho Panula’s obituary for his family, pub-
lished in the New York News on May 4, 1912

I hereby announce with deep sorrow that, 
as victims of capitalism, in the shipwreck 
of the Titanic, I lost my wife  Maria Emilia, 
age 40 (née Ojala, from the village of Kau-
hajärvi) and my children Ernesti Arvid, age 
17, Arnold, age 15, Juho Niilo, age 8, Urho 
Aabram, age 3, Eino Wiljami, age 1. Together 
with them was drowned Sanna Riihivuori, age 
20 (from Ylihärmä), who came along as my 
children’s nanny.

 Juho Panula
Box 2, Daisytown, Pa.

the daughter of their neighbors, came 
along as their domestic.

Maria Panula and her children em-
barked on the Polaris in Hanko on 
April 3, 1912. Their destination was 
Coal Center, Pennsylvania, where Juho 
Panu la had already settled. The ticket 
for the whole group cost 1 613 Finnish 
marks. 

On board the Titanic Maria Panula 
and three of her youngest sons shared 
a cabin with Anna Turja in the rear sec-
tion of the ship. Her two elder sons 
were accommodated among other un-
married men in the front section of the 
ocean liner. Turja described how one of 
Maria’s older boys came to wake them 
and told them to hurry; the ship was 
sinking. Amid the chaos Maria got sep-
arated from her elder sons and refused 
to enter a lifeboat without them. 

Maria Panula, her children, and Su-
sanna Riihivuori were all drowned and 
their bodies were never found. Juho 
Panula received the tragic news on 
April 21, 1912. 

The Mansion House Fund paid Juho 
Panula £50 and Maria’s mother in Fin-
land another £50 in compensation. In 
addition, Juho received an indemnity 
of 2,527 Finnish marks for the loss of 
his entire family. 

Juho Panula returned to Finland 
in 1913 and married Sanna Ulvinen 
from Lapua. In 1914 he left for America 
again and Sanna followed him a cou-
ple of years later. They had three chil-
dren. Juho Panula died in Minnesota 
on March 31, 1944.

  ► Maria and Juho Panula
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Panula, Urho Abraham

Urho Abraham Panula was born on 
April 25, 1909. His parents were Juho 
Panula and Maria Ojala. The entire 
Panu la family returned from Ameri-
ca to Finland in 1910 and moved from 
Lapua to Ylihärmä.

Urho, with his mother and broth-
ers, departed from Hanko on SS Polaris 
on April 3, 1912. Their destination was 
Coal Center, Pennsylvania, where his 
father Juho Panula had already settled.

Urho Panula died on the Titanic and 
his body was never found.

Pekoniemi, Edvard

Son of a farmer, Edvard Johannes Pe-
koniemi, was born in the rural com-
mune of Heinola on December 12, 
1890. His parents were farmer Mikko 
Juhonpoika Pekoniemi and Erika Jaa-
kobintytär. 

Edvard Pekoniemi embarked on the 
Polaris in Hanko on April 3, 1912. His 
destination was New York and the tick-
et cost 269 Finnish marks. 

Edvard Pekoniemi died on the Titanic 
and his body was never recovered. His 
family was paid £75 in compensation.

Peltomäki, Nikolai

Nikolai Johannes Peltomäki was born 
in Lavia on December 26, 1886. He was 

the son of cottager Oskari Juhonpoi-
ka and Josefi na Taavetintytär. Nikolai 
moved from Lavia to Pori, then to Tam-
pere and fi nally to Helsinki. He worked 
as a shoemaker’s apprentice, a shoe-
maker, a painter and a sales clerk. 

Nikolai Peltomäki boarded the Po-
laris in Hanko on April 3, 1912. His des-
tination was New York and his ticket 
cost 269 Finnish marks. 

Nikolai Peltomäki died when the 
ship sank and his body was never 
found. His family was paid £75 in com-
pensation.

Riihivuori, Susanna (Sanna)

Miss Susanna Riihivuori was born in 
Ylihärmä on April 23, 1889. Her parents 
were dependent lodger Juho Riihi-
vuori (former Luoma) and Sanna Tuo-
maantytär. They lived next to the Panu-
la family. When the Panulas decided to 
move to Pennsylvania, Susanna left 
with them as their domestic. The rea-
son for her journey may also have been 
the access to a cheaper family ticket.

Susanna Riihivuori departed from 
Hanko aboard the Polaris on April 3, 
1912, with Maria Panula and her fi ve 
children. Their joint ticket cost 1,613 
Finnish marks. 

Susanna Riihivuori drowned with 
the Titanic and her body was never re-
covered.

Rintamäki, Matti

Farmer Matti Rintamäki (former Korpi-
Kyyny) was born in Kauhajoki on Feb-
ruary 4, 1877. His parents were farmer 
Matti Matinpoika Korpi-Kyyny and Kai-
sa Sofi a Heikintytär. Matti married Ma-
ria Sofi a Salomonintytär in 1897 and 
they had eight children. 

Matti Rintamäki together with Niko-
lai Kallio, Matti Mäenpää and Iisakki Äi-
jö-Nirva left Hanko aboard the Polar-
is on April 3, 1912. All the men came 
from Kauhajoki and were headed for 
Ontario, Canada.

Matti and his traveling compan-
ions drowned and their bodies were 

never found. Matti Rintamäki’s widow 
brought a civil suit in the High Court 
against the White Star Line claiming 
damages. Matti had been the sole pro-
vider for the family, earning 1,500 Finn-
ish marks a year, according to his wid-
ow. The case was heard on January 24, 
1913 and settled with £375 in compen-
sation. 

Rosblom, Helena 
Wilhelmina (Wilhelmiina/
Vilhelmiina)

Dependent lodger’s wife Helena Wil-
helmina Rosblom (née Raula) was born 
in the parish of Lappi, in Satakunta, on 
April 22, 1870. She was the daughter 
of crofter Kustaa Raula and Ulrika Vil-
helmina Gabrielintytär. 

In 1893 Helena Wilhelmina married 
Viktor Rosblom from the rural parish of 
Rauma. The family lived in the village 
of Kolla. Their eldest son, Viktor Rich-
ard, was born on February 8, 1894, and 
the second son, Eino Wilhelm, in 1900. 
Father Viktor embarked for America in 
January 1905 and came back to Fin-
land in 1908. In the March of 1910 Vik-
tor Rosblom re-embarked for Ameri-
ca. His youngest child, daughter San-
ni Helena, was born in February, only a 
month prior to his departure. 

Helena Rosblom took her children 
Viktor and Sanni Helena, and boarded 
the Titania at Hanko on March 27, 1912, 
to join her husband Viktor in Astoria, 
Oregon. Her younger son, Eino, cate-
gorically refused to leave and stayed 
in Rauma. In Southampton the family 
was supposed to board the Olympic on 
April 3, 1912, but Salli got sick and the 
journey had to be postponed. Eventu-
ally they got tickets on the Titanic. The 
husband was notifi ed about the change 
only a few weeks later. After the fam-
ily did not arrive on the Olympic, Vik-
tor started to unravel the situation and 
found out that his family had died on 
the Titanic. On June 8, the surviving son 
in Rauma was sent a telegram notifying 
him of the death of his family members. 

Helena Wilhelmina Rosblom and her 
children all drowned and their bodies   ► Nikolai Peltomäki
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were never found. Her husband was 
paid £100 in compensation.

Rosblom, Salli Helena

Salli Helena Rosblom was born on Feb-
ruary 25, 1910 in the rural parish of 
Rauma. Her parents were Viktor Ros-
blom and Helena Wilhelmina Raula.

Salli Helena left for America with her 
mother Helena Wilhelmina and her 
brother Viktor Richard on SS Titania from 
Hanko on March 27, 1912. The family’s 
father had re-emigrated there in 1910. 

The family intended to embark the 
Olympic at Southampton, but Salli got 
sick and they had to delay their depar-
ture and ended up on the Titanic. 

Salli Helena Rosblom, her mother 
and her brother all drowned and their 
bodies were never recovered. The fa-
ther received £100 in compensation.

Rosblom, Viktor Richard  

Viktor Richard Rosblom was born on 
February 8, 1894 in the rural parish of 
Rauma. His parents were Viktor Ros-
blom and Helena Wilhelmina Raula. 

Viktor Rosblom, his mother Hele-
na Wilhelmina, and his 2-year-old sis-
ter Salli embarked for America and de-
parted from Hanko on the Titania on 
March 27, 1912. His father had already 
left earlier in 1910. 

In Southampton the family was sup-
posed to board the Olympic, but when 
Salli got sick, the journey had to be 
postponed and they were transferred 
to the Titanic.

Viktor Richard Rosblom, his moth-
er and his sister all died on the Titanic 
and their bodies were never found. The 
father received £100 in compensation.

Salonen, Juho Werner 
(Verner) Kristianinpoika

Dependent lodger Juho Verner Sa-
lonen was born in Karinainen, in South-
west Finland, in 1871. 

Juho Salonen got his fi rst passport 
to America in February 1902. His desti-
nation was Virginia, Minnesota. 

He returned to his home parish in 
Finland, but left again with Manta Nie-
minen, who came from Karinainen, on 
SS Polaris from Hanko on April 3, 1912. 
Their ticket cost 553 Finnish marks, in-

cluding the train fare to their fi nal desti-
nation of Aberdeen, Washington.

Juho Werner Salonen died in the 
sinking of the Titanic and his body was 
never found. His family was paid £50 in 
compensation.

Sihvola, Antti

21-year-old Antti Wilhelm Sihvola 
came from Ruotsinpyhtää. 

Antti Sihvola departed from Hanko 
aboard the Polaris on April 3, 1912. His 
destination was Mountain Home, Ida-
ho. The price of his fare was 553 Finn-
ish marks.

Antti Wilhelm Sihvola drowned in 
the sinking of the Titanic and his body 
was never recovered. His family was 
paid £50 in compensation.

19191919

  ► A meticulous list with the names of the 
victims of the Titanic in alphabetical order 
was compiled in England in 1912. Source: 
Ancestry.com. UK, RMS Titanic, Death at 
Sea, 1912.
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  ► Anna Sjöblom was the first Titanic survivor to arrive on the West Coast. The Tacoma 
News interviewed Anna Sjöblom at her aunt Mrs Nelson’s, in Tacoma on April 29, 1912. Anna 
did not speak English, so she described the horrors of the night in her native language: ”I 
will never forget all that screaming and crying, even if I live to be a hundred. 

Sjöblom, Anna Sofi a

Cottager’s daughter Anna Sofi a Sjö-
blom was born in Munsala on April 14, 
1894. 

Anna Sofi a Sjöblom was on her way 
to Olympia, Washington to meet her 
father Gabriel Gustafson, who worked 
for the Simpson Timber Company. An-
na traveled with three others from 
Munsala: Jakob Alfred Johanson, Ja-
kob Alfred Wiklund and Karl Johan 
Wiklund. Their journey started from 
Hanko on SS Urania on March 30, 1912. 
The Finnish Steamship Company’s pas-
senger manifest shows that they had 
made reservations to board the Phila-
delphia at Southampton on April 6, 
1912. Because of the coal strike they 
were transferred to the Titanic. 

Anna Sofi a turned 18 on April 14, 
1912, but was too tired to celebrate 
her birthday after having been seasick 
during the entire journey. When the 
collision occurred, Anna was in bed, 
fully dressed, in her third-class cabin 
on the lower decks. Together with an-
other Finnish girl she tried to reach the 
boat deck, but they got lost and were 
fi nally forced to climb a crew ladder. 
Crew members urged them to board 
a lifeboat, but as Anna did not under-
stand English, she did not realize the 
gravity of the situation. Only when the 
ship started to list sharply and eventu-
ally to sink did she step into a lifeboat 
(probably number 16), already fi lled to 
capacity. 

Anna’s traveling companions Ja-
kob Johanson, Jakob Wiklund and Karl 
Wiklund all died and their bodies were 
never recovered. On the night of the 
accident, Anna only saw Jakob Alfred 
Wiklund, who tied up her lifejacket. 

Anna Sofi a Sjöblom arrived in New 
York on SS Carpathia on April 18, 1912. 
She was taken to the Lutheran Emi-
grant Mission home, and a week lat-
er she continued her trip to Tacoma, 
Washington, to join her family. Sever-
al pictures were taken of the survivors 
upon SS Carpathia’s arrival in New York. 
Anna sent home a newspaper with a 
picture of herself. 

Anna Sofi a Sjöblom married An-
toine Paterson. They had two children. 
She later married Gordon Kincaid. In 
the course of time, Anna gave several 
interviews. Anna Kincaid died in Olym-
pia, Washington on November 3, 1975.

Strandberg, Ida Sofi a

Miss Ida Sofi a Strandberg was born in 
the parish of Finström, in the Aland Is-
lands, on November 22, 1889. Her par-

ents were sailor Johan Gustav Strand-
berg and Beata Sofi a Rusk.

Before heading for America Ida had 
worked as a maid in various households 
in her home parish. Her brother Gustaf 
Konrad had embarked for New York in 
1907. Ida Strandberg traveled fi rst from 
The Aland Islands to Gothenburg, Swe-
den, where she boarded the Calypso 
bound for Hull on April 5, 1912. Because 
of this she was registered as Swedish in 
the passenger list. In the White Star Line 
records, her place of residence was also 
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marked as Bulgaria. Her destination was 
New York. 

Ida Sofi a Strandberg died on the Ti-
tanic and her body was never found. 
Her family was paid £50 in compensa-
tion.

Strandén, Juho

Farmer’s son Juho Strandén was born in 
Kitee on April 20, 1881. His parents were 
farmer Niilo Strandén and Inka Musikka. 

Juho Strandén departed from Hanko 
on SS Polaris on April 3, 1912. He was on 
his way to Duluth, Minnesota, and his 
ticket had cost 398 Finnish marks. 

After the Titanic collided with the 
iceberg, Juho woke up and went up on 
the deck, noticing blocks of ice there. 
When he saw people in lifeboats, he 
rushed back down to alert his cabin 
mate Juho Niskanen. Together they re-
turned to the boat deck where, accord-
ing to their own story, they helped re-
lease a lifeboat on the starboard side 
of the ship. They were rescued into the 
same lifeboat (probably number 9).

Juho Strandén arrived in New York 
on the Carpathia on April 18, 1912. He 
was quartered at St. Vincent’s Hospi-
tal. For a few years, he wandered about 
America and lived, among other plac-
es, in Toronto, Canada. 

Juho Strandén returned to Fin-
land later and moved from Kitee to 
Pyhäselkä, near the city of Joensuu. 
He died at some point after 1929 in 
Ruskeala.

Sundman, Johan

Farm owner Johan Sundman was born 
in Munsala in 1867. He was married. 
Passport records from 1912 show that 
he left behind in Finland a wife and six 
underage children. 

Johan Sundman had already been 
to America twice, both to the west and 
to New York. His third journey start-
ed from Hanko on board the Pola ris 
on April 3, 1912. He was heading for 
Cheyenne, Wyoming and had paid 468 
Finnish marks for his ticket. 

After the collision Johan Sundman 
got up and dressed. He made it to a 
lifeboat (number 15) without any hurry 
or obstruction. He arrived in New York 
on SS Carpathia on April 18, 1912.

After some years Johan Sundman 
returned to Finland. He worked on his 
farm in Munsala until his death.

Tikkanen, Juho

Farmer’s son Juho Tikkanen was born 
in Pielavesi on June 24, 1879. He was 
the son of farmer Herman Tikkanen 
and Helena Tikkanen. 

Juho Tikkanen departed from Han-
ko on SS Polaris, on April 3, 1912. His 
destination was New York and he had 
paid 269 Finnish marks for his ticket.

Juho Tikkanen died on the Titanic 
and his body was never recovered. Juho 
was unmarried, and his mother and sib-
lings were paid £50 in compensation.

Turja, Anna-Sofi a

Servant Anna Sofi a Turja was born in 
Oulainen on June 20, 1893. She was 
the daughter of Heikki Turja and Sanna 
Greta Hakala. Both parents came from 
Lapua and had moved to Oulainen in 
1890.

Anna had a stepsister, Maria, whose 
husband Johan Lundi from Ashtabu-
la, Ohio enticed Anna to America by 
guaranteeing her employment. Anna’s 
brother, Matti Turja, was living in Con-
neaut, Ohio. Anna’s relatives in Amer-
ica sent her a so-called prepaid ticket, 
which cost $74. Anna departed from 
Hanko on April 3, 1912 and sent Maria 
Lund a letter in which she wrote that, 
she was about to travel with approxi-
mately 100 fellow Finns and that they 
were going to embark on the Titanic in 
Southampton. 

Aboard the Titanic Anna shared her 
cabin with Maria Panula and her chil-
dren, and Susanna Riihivuori. They 
were all in the cabin when the collision 
occurred. They got up and dressed. 
One of Maria Panula’s sons came to 
their cabin to tell them something was 

wrong. He urged the women to make 
haste and to put on their lifejackets. 
Anna herself was not frightened, but 
the others in the cabin were panick-
ing. Later Anna said it was pure chance 
that they made it to the boat deck. All 
the gates were locked and nobody told 
them what was going on. Anna did not 
speak any English. They heard the or-
chestra playing music.

Anna Sofi a made it to lifeboat num-
ber 15. The passengers on the boat 
heard explosions and cries for help. 
Their boat was very close to the Titan-
ic when it sank. Anna Turja’s traveling 
companions, Maria Panula with her 
children, and Susanna Riihivuori, died 
in the sinking. 

Anna Turja arrived in New York on 
the Carpathia on April 18, 1912. She 
was taken to St. Vincent’s Hospital. She 
had lost everything except her clothes. 
The White Star Line paid for her hospi-
tal bill as well as for her train ticket to 
Ashtabula. At the station her brother 
Matti Turja greeted her and took her to 

  ► Anna Sofia Turja
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his home. Neighbors and newspaper 
reporters crowded around to see her.

Anna Turja’s name had not been on 
the passenger list, and it was only 5–6 
weeks later that her family received a 
letter from her letting them know she 
was alive. Anna never returned to Fin-
land.

Anna Turja did not go to work for her 
brother-in-law. She soon met her future 
husband Erik Lund and had seven chil-
dren with him. Anna never learned to 
speak English and her children inter-
preted for her. Her spouse Erik passed 
away in 1952 and Anna Lund on De-
cember 20, 1982, in California. She was 
interred at Edgewater Cemetery in 
Ashtabula, Ohio. 

Turkula, Hedvig

Mrs Hedvig Turkula (née Kivikko) was 
born in Jalasjärvi on June 5, 1848. Her 
parents were dependent lodger Sa-
lomon Kivikko and Anna Brita Samu-
elintytär. 

Hedvig married Isak Juhonpoika 
Turkula (formerly Kujala) in 1871. They 
had several children who had em-

barked for America. Hedvig was wid-
owed in 1902 and she decided to em-
igrate to America, where her children 
and grandchildren were living. 

Hedvig Turkula boarded the Pola-
ris in Hanko on April 3, 1912. She was 
heading for Hibbing, Minnesota. Her 
son in America had bought her a pre-
paid ticket at the price of $74. 

Hedvig was asleep when the acci-
dent happened. On the deck fellow 
Finn Eino Lindqvist helped her into a 
lifeboat (number 15). Hedvig arrived 
in New York on the Carpathia on April 
18, 1912 and was taken to St. Vincent’s 
Hospital. She told the reporters she 
had no particularly ill feelings about 
the occurrence apart from a slight 
cold. 

Hedvig Turkula was the oldest Finn 
to survive the sinking of the Titanic. 
She died in Minnesota on April 3, 1922.

Wiklund, Jakob Alfred

Son of a farmer, Jakob Alfred Wiklund, 
was born in 1893 in Munsala. He worked 
with his parents on the family farm. 

Jakob Wiklund and his brother Karl 
Johan Wiklund were traveling to Ameri-
ca with ex-fellow student Anna Sofi a 
Sjöblom and Jakob Alfred Johanson. 
They boarded SS Urania in Hanko on 
March 30, 1912. The Finnish Steamship 
Company’s passenger manifest shows 
that they had made reservations to 
board the Philadelphia on April 6, 1912, 
but due to the coal strike they were re-
directed to the Titanic.

Along with other unmarried men on 
board, the brothers were accommo-
dated in a third-class cabin in the front 
section of the ship.

Jakob Alfred Wiklund drowned, but 
the cable ship Minia (number 314) 
found his body and it was brought to 
Halifax. Jacob was buried at Fairview 
Cemetery in Halifax, and his belong-

ings were sent to his parents. They 
were paid £50 in compensation. 

Wiklund, Karl Johan

21-year-old farmer’s son Karl Johan 
Wiklund was born in Munsala. He 
worked with his parents on the fami-
ly farm. Karl Johan Wiklund, his broth-
er Jakob Wiklund, Anna Sofi a Sjöblom 
and Jakob Alfred Johanson embarked 
for America together. They left Hanko 
aboard the Urania on March 30, 1912. 
The Finnish Steamship Company’s pas-
senger manifest shows that they in-
tended to embark on the Philadelphia 
on April 6, 1912. Because of a coal strike 
they were transferred to the Titanic. 
Like other unmarried men on board, 
the brothers had their third-class cabin 
in the front section of the ship.

Karl Johan Wiklund died when the 
ship sank and his body was never re-
covered. 

Äijö-Nirva, Isak

Farmer Iisakki Äijö (later Äijö-Nirva) 
was born in Kauhajoki on December 
24, 1870. He was the son of farmer Ant-
ti Äijö and Vilhelmina Juhontytär. Iisak-
ki married Maija Liisa Salomonintytär 
in 1891 and they had fi ve children. 

Iisakki Äijö embarked for America for 
the fi rst time in January 1901 and then 
again at the spring of 1909. Iisakki had 
sold his farm in Finland in 1912 with 
the intention of emigrating to Ontario, 
Cana da for good. He boarded SS Polaris 
in Hanko on April 3, 1912, together with 
Nikolai Kallio, Matti Mäenpää and Matti 
Rintamäki, all from Kauhajoki. 

Iisakki Äijö-Nirva and his traveling 
companions drowned in the Titanic 
disaster and their bodies were never 
found. Iisakki’s widow was paid £250 in 
compensation.  ► Hedvig Turkula
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